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THE WESTERN MAILS

PRATTE, CHOUTEAU &€ CO.

[ Translation:|

Eau qui Court {i.e. Running Water), May 29, 1837.

My dear Cousin.

By Mr. Leelere (7) who will be leaving in 3 or 4 days, | hurry to give vou our news, which from any angle is of the
worst nature. First we have been short of water since the beautiful sunny summer and since then | have not done
anything but ‘portage’. Atterwards [ have been abliged to wait for the water below Mahas, twice more between there £
and Vermillion, and once more at 10 or 12 miles above the said river; having sunk the Barge with 160 (1407 lead
bars, and 8 to 10 axes, our "wheel arms & bucket planks’ (in English in the text); as a further benediction [ have
'picote’ {could be either measles or smallpox) on board. This morning we have buried Vital Papin, and we have §
new cases, 2 of which since yesterday. | have no idea where it will stop. [ have, in agreement with the instructions of
my cousin, wanted to buy the packs (of furs) of Leclerc but the latter did not want to hear about this. Following the
same instructions | have delivered to Dixon only the aftermentioned, and [ am planning to leave the balance of his
equipment at Lower Missouri: the articles left behind *| pair of cartwheels. | medecine chest. | demijohn of vinegar,
I cast iron kettle, 4 pigs or 283 Ibs lead. | Boston 13 1b, 2 boxes tobacco. 700 Ibs powder, 2 Blarrz1]s flour, |
Blarre]l pork. 2 scvthes & swords (7), Box N° 8, Bale N" 380, | Box Sugar' {in English in the text); he has to zo
down to 5t. Louis

(p-2]

but it is understood that he has to leave his packs at Vermillion in care of Mr. Labruyere, & that | will pick them up
on my way back. The water has risen a little, but gone down again since dinner. | do not believe I will reach Lower
wvlissouri with this outfit. Good-bye my dear Cousin, | am so tired in body and in spirit that | cannot continue, so
excuse me for lack of detail &e. | would have enough energy tor courtesy. Give the news o my wife, My respects o
my uncle Labbadie & Mr. Cabanné

[sizned:] B. Pratte.

[address-leaf:] Mess”, Pratte Chouteau & Co., St Louis. Politeness of Mr. Leclerc.

[docket:] Bernard Pratte, Eau qui Court May 29, 1337, Received July 1. 1837 CW/
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NOTES & CORRECTIONS,from translation from the French on the above.

Narcisse Leclerc independent trader.May have worked for Pratte & Chouteau.
MAHAS indian village.

HONORE:PICOTTE worked for the American Fur Co,was in charge of FORT PIEREE

in 1839 See letter of Dec.15,1839 in this collection.

VERMILLION POST located near the mouth of the Vermillion with the Missouri
River in present day South Dakota.

VITAL PAPIN may have been one of the many Papins of St.Louis in the fur trade.
LOWER MISSOURI should be LITTLE MISSOURI as from "petit" in the letter.

JOHN PIERRE CABANNE,Sr.and SYLVESTER LABBADIE,as well as PIERRE CHOUTEAU Jr.,
were brothers-in-law.Cabanne married Charles Gratiot's daughter Julia. So
blood lines run in all directions when it comes to the fur trade.

BERNARD PRATTE is listed as having died April 1,1836,but if he wrote and sign-
ed this letter he was still living over a year later! He had a son,Bernard Jr.,
who assumed his partnership in Pratte & Chouteau,but if he wrote the letter,
and if his father was dead, would he have addressed it "My dear Cousin"??

And why did he 1eave off the "Jr." wvhen signing as well as the recipient did when
docketing the letter? If the death date is correct,the signer is B.Pratte Jr!
EAU QUI COURT was the French name for the NIOBRARA RIVER in northern Nebraska.
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[Translation:]

Mr. 1.Bte. Jaspy, at 5t. Louis. S.N. 5 Jan. 1832 [i.e. 18337]

Dear friend,

It is as vet impossible for me to give vou the result of my business. Only about one third of my Indians have come
out and [ have approximately 80 packs but no beaver. [n another eight days | hope to know more.

All | can tell you is that cur nephew has done important work. It is too bad that he is not alone. He has zone mito
partnership with a young farmer who had something that he is about to lose. | no longer believe he will come back
for mare,

Nothing else. All is well. Give my rezards to Mr. Rainchan (7), & | wish vou a happy year, & believe me your
friend.

[signed:] Th. Robidoux

[address-leaf'] Mr. 1. B Jaspy, 3L Louis.

[docket:] Robidouas. 3 Jany. 1832, Received Febry. 3. 1833. Answered ... none.




"Mon.9.8¢ Janpy, at St LouiafS. A, 5 Jan. /832

Dean Friend -

{1t iaaa yet impoaaible fon me to glve you the neault of my bua inneaa.Only
about one thind of my Indiana have come oyt and [ have approx Lmafeiy 80
packa but no beaven.in anothen eight daya { pre no knowmone. ALl [ can tell
you La that oun nephew [?]* has done important wonk.lt (a4 too bad that he in
not alone.fe haa gone into pantnenship with a young fanmen who haa aomething
that he ia about to Lose.l no iungeu believe he will come back fon mone.
Nothing elae. ALl iawell.Give my neganda to ﬁn.??aincéan £21,&8 1 wiah you a

happy yean,E belive me youn faiend. Jh:Robidoux"

LER A A B B B R R R E R R R R I e e aprapraay

Addressed:"Mons J.Bt Sarpy St.Louis" : Z ;
for 1832)7

Docket:"Robidoux 5th Jany 1832/Recieved Febry 3 1833 (in error
Postmarked:"Cant Leavenworth Jan" - rated "183/4" cents postage.




Chronology

THE SOUTH WEST EXPEDITION
182620

July 18, 1826—General William Ashley sells out to Jedediah Smith;
David Jackson, and William Sublette ar the Cache Valley sum-

mer rendezvous.

August 16— Jedediah Smith leaves Cache Valley on the South West
Expedition with seventeen men.

August 25—The expedition reaches the Sevier River, which Smith
names Ashley's River. “Sampatch” (Ute) Indians encountered.

September 15—Reaches the Virgin River; Smith names it Adams in
honor of President John Quincy Adams.

October 1—Salt cave discovered.

October 3—Reaches “Seedskeeder,” or Colorado River.

October 25—Reaches the Mohave villages.

November 10—Leaves Mohave villages; begins crossing of Mohave
Desert.

MNovember 27—Reaches San Gabriel Mission.

December 8—Governor Echeandia orders Smith to report at San
Diego. Peter Ranne accompanies him.

December 12—Smith, Ranne, Captain William Cunningham and 2
Mexican guard arrive at San Diego.

December zo—American ship caprains in San Diego harbor vouch
for Smith; Governor Echeandia orders the expedition out of
California.
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January 10, 1827—Smith and Ranne reach San Gabriel.

January 18—Expedition leaves San Gabriel.

April 30—Reaches American River after trapping north through
the San Joaquin Valley.

May s—Artempt to get over the Sierras by way of the American
Eiver fails.

May :20—Base camp established on the Stanislaus River. Smith,
Evans, and Gobel leave to attempt Sierra crossing.

June 25—Smith, Evans, an'd Gobel reach Great Salt Lake.

July 3—Smith, Evans, and Gobel reach the summer rendezvous on
Bear Lake. =

July 13—Smith starts for California again with a party of eighteen,
including Gobel.

August 18—Expedition is attacked by Mohave Indians while cross-

ing the Colorado River. Ten.killed, Thomas Virgin and Isaac
Galbraith wounded.

August 28—Survivors enter San Bernardino Valley; Galbraith quits;
Virgin is left ar Rancho San Bernardino to recuperate.

September 18—Smith and six survivors of the Mohave massacre
reach the base camp on the Stanislaus.

September 20—Smith and four men leave for San José to explain
the presence of Americans on Mexican territory. )

September 23—Smith and companions reach San José, are put in
the guardhouse by Father Durin.

October s—Smith leaves for Monterey under guard to see Gover-
nor Echeandia. _

October 8—Smith reaches Monterey and is promptly jailed.

MNovember 15—American ship caprains in Monterey harbor vouch
for Smith; he signs bond and agrees to leave Mexican territory
at once.

November 26—Fxpedition reassembled at San Francisco; leaves San
Francisco with sixteen men, sixty horses.

December jo—Expedition leaves San Jos¢ with 310 horses.

January 18, 1828—Reed and Pombert desert.

March 8—Harrison Rogers badly mauled by a grizzly bear.

June 23—Expedition enters Oregon.

July 14—Encampment on Umpqua River attacked by Kelawatset
Indians; only Smith, Black, Turner, and Leland survive.

August 8—Black reaches Fort Vancouver.

Aungust 10—Smith, Turner, and Leland reach Fort Vancouver

September 6—Alexander McLeod leads a party of Hudson’s Bay
Company men south to the Umpqua to try to recover the ex-
pedition’s scattered gﬂuds. Smith, Turner, Leland and Black
accompany the party.

October :8—MecLeod reaches massacre site and buries bodies.

December 14—McLeod party reaches Fort Vancouver with recov-
ered furs and horses.

March ¢, 1820—Governor George Simpson of the Hudson’s Bay
Company buys expedition’s furs and horses for $2,390.60.

March 12—Smith and Black leave Fort Vancouver by canoe, up the .
Columbia River.

August 20—Smith and Black reach the summer rendezvous in
Pierre's Hole.



THE WESTERN MAILS

[Jedediah S. Smith to Hugh Campbell]
St Louis Nov. 24'® 1830
Mr Hugh Campbell
Dear friend

On the eighteenth of the present month I received your
Epistle, which I perused with a mixture of gratitude and regret—I
have great reason to feel thankful to You My Dear Sir, for the trouble
you put your Self to on my account—but, with pain did I peruse that
part of your Epistle, which Speaks of the ill health of My much
valued Friend—Oh is it possible I Shall never again See him in the
Land of the living? My Prayer to Almighty God, is, that I may again
be allowed the Privilege of passing some time in company with my
Friend— ; :

I have not written directly to Robert, for this reason, I thought Your
Letters would be more certain of their place of destination [Ireland],
consequently it would be better for us to correspond, as, in the mean
time I shall be in pleasant converse with two friends in stead of one.

I have been under the necessity of going forward with a partner-
ship amounting to part of My Capital, but Shall Still, unavoidable
accidents excepted, have eight, or, perhaps, ten thousand Dollars, in
March, or April next, which Could not be vested in any way to please
me so well, as to have it aid both my FriEND and me.

According to your intimation, and to my great satisfaction I re-
ceived from Mr Kyle a price Current of Nov. 10, together with
such information as that Gentleman was able to collect, for this I
render my grateful acknowledgments, but Since I wrote, We have
engaged a Gentleman (Gen. W™ H. Ashley) to take our Furs forward
to Philadelphia and N. York and dispose of the Same

With what pleasure would I have embraced the opportunity. of
comp[l]ying with your friendly invitation of visiting Mrs Hugh
Campbell at Richmond? but my business compells me to remain in
St. Louis this Winter.

As you mention Mr Keyte, I will tell what I know of that Gentle-
man, I had not the honor of a personal acquaintance with Mr K. but
on my arrival here this fall (as I knew Mr R. C. had been intimate
with him) I called on the Gentleman and made inquiry for my
friend, I got little, or no satisfaction.

Mr Keyte has now removed from St Louis, near to a Small Town,
called Chariton, in this State.

After the perusal of these two Letters, which I have had the
pertinacity to write, it is hardly necessary for me to tell you that I
am much more in my element, when conversing with the uncivilized
Man, or Seting My Beaver Traps, than in writing Epistles.

: believe me
[Addressed:] Mr Hugh Campbell Dr. Sir your
Richmond Sincere friend and
Va. Hub. Servant
[Postmarked:] St. Louis, Mo. Dee 1 Jedediah, 5. Smith

[Rate:] 25

——— T e
...--".'_":_ ey



THE WESTERN MAILS

JEDEDIAH SMITH'S SOUTHWEST EXPEDITION 1826/1827.
DEPOSITIONS OF ORVILLE D.SHANKS & ROBERT EVANS.

At the Cache(Willow)Valley Rendezvous of 1826 General Wm.H.Ashley sold out to
the new firm of Smith,Jackson and Sublette. On the 16th of August Jed_edlah $m1th
left the rendezvous with a trapping and exploring party of 17 men including
Robert Evans for California. They reached the Mohave villages on October 251;1'1',
and arrived at the San Gabriel Mission November 27th. On December 20th the Mex1i-
can Governor ordered them to leave California.Instead Smith headed north to :
the Stanislaus River,where he established a base camp May 20, 132?.Leaving[ his
party Smith,with Robert Evans and Silas Gobel, headed back east to meet with
his partners at the summer rendezvous at Bear lake,Utah. After ge_ttlng ACross
the Sierra Nevadas they run into trouble - no wild game and very little water.

By the time they reached the Great Salt Lake Desert they had shot their horses
for food.On June 25th Robert Evans laid down under a2 small cedar unable to cont-
inue further. Smith and Goble forged ahead and within a few miles'they found
water near the foot of the Stansbury Mountains.Smith took a small t:cettlje of water
and some meat back to Evans,who was still alive and in time to revive him. SEE
map. They finally reached Bear Lake on July 3rd,;1827.

On July 13th Jedediah again started for California with a party t?f 18, 1nc1ud1;l'jg
Silas Gobel and David Cunningham,the subject of the two depositlons.ﬂobgrt did
not go along..After reaching the Mohave Villages on the Colorado Rivelr in the
Mohave Desert,they spent 3 days with the Indians who appeared to be frlelndly.(}n
the 18th of August while Smith and eight of the party were crossing the river,the
Indians killed the remaining 10,including David Cunningham and Silas Gobel. The
survivors,without horses, 15 pounds of dried meat and no water,reached the base
camp on the Stanislaus River on September 18th.SEE deposition of Arthur Black 1n
this collection for the journey north to the disaster that befell the party on the

Umpgua River in Oregon.

= —-_; = HISTORICAL NOTES
Mﬂfmueﬁ\ S ORVILLE D.SHANKS states that dur-
Village | ing the winter of 1829 Smith, Jack-
itages |
to ol son & Sublette were camped on the
San Gabrie BIGHORN RIVER and NOT on the Pow-
Mission, der River as previously thought by
Nav. 10-27,1826 Dale Morgan.He also quotes Jeded-

iah Smith concerning the death of
David Cunningham.

ROBERT EVANS states that when he
came back fromCalifornia to the
Bear Lake Rendezvous in 1827, he
hired out to BRUFFEE & SCOTT and
NOT to General Ashley.He also
states that he came down { to 5t.
Louis ) in 1830.50 he had remained
in the mountains after he came
back from California.There is a
record of a Robert Evans who was
killed at the Alamo in February of
1836.It could be that they are one
and the same!SEE Bruffee letter to
Campbell September 10,1829,

[ L |_'['.F._-.":=;='.:
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The route followed in 1826 is the same as 1827, following the attack at the
Mohave Villages on the Colorado River.Smith did not go to the San Gabriel
Mission,but turned north after getting across the San Bernardino Mountains
and headed up the San Joaguin Valley to the base camp on the Stanislaus River.
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itk THE WESTERN MAILS

"ORVILLE D.SHANKS being produced Sworn and Examined on the part of the plaintiff
deposes and says,

"In the fore part of the winter of Eighteen hundred and twventy nine I was in

the Employ of Smith,Jackson & Sublette of which firm the present defendant Will-
am Sublette was one.At that time the party under the command of Smith Jackson &
Sublette were Encamped on big horn river among the rocky mountains.I went to the
lodge of the defendant & Smith and began to ingquire into the affairs of David
Cunningham who from the statement of the Company,had been killed about two years
before by the Mackhaba Indians.[Aug.18,1827] I had taken a letter for him, but
finding that he was dead, I was induced to inguire into hisaffairs - Smith answ-
erd me in these words as near as I can recollect, "He had been doing very well be-
fore he was killed ,we owe him Eleven hundred dollars." I understood that at the
time of his death he was in the Employ of Smith Jackson & Sublette.
Question by defenant. Do you know if Cunningham was in the Employ of Smith Jackson
& Sublette?
Answer. I donot - I only understood it from Mr.Robert Evans and several other men
in the Employ of Smith Jackson & Sublette.
Question.Do you know who did business in the rocky mountains in Eighteen hundred
and twenty seven - whether it was Smith,Jackson & Sublette,or Ashley & Smith?
Answer. I do not -
Question. Is not Joseph Cunningham,administrator of David Cunningham deceased,
your brother-in-law?
Answer. He was married to my sister - She is now dead and he has since married again.
Question. Did you ever hear Joseph Cunningham say that he had received money from
Smith Jackson & Sublette on account of the services of his deceased brother David?
Answer Yes. I have heard him say that he had recieved two hundred and fifty dollars,

it was last fall [1832) a year ago that I heard him say so,and he said that he recie-
vaed it since The death of his brother- And further this deponent saith not -

Sworn to and subscribed to before . / dﬂ/ pué
. Wpewre (& D

Wilson Primm Jr.[Dec.24,1833].

[TT T T EEEEEEEEEEESSS S22 S22 2 2 R AR R A AR S &

"ROBERT EVANS being produced Sworn and Examined on the part of the defendant
deposes and says / In the year Eighteen hundred and twenty five,I started to the
Rocky Mountains in the Employ of Ashley and Smith - In the year following,Smith
and I went away to the South to California and returned on the fourth of July Eight-
eer hundred and twenty seven[ SEE below].From the time of my arrival at the Rocky
mountains until I returned from California David Cunningham was a free man,work-
ing hunting and trapping for himself. On my return from California Bruffee & Scott
were doing business in the Mountains for Ashley & Smith - they employed me to come
home - I know not that Smith,Jackson & Sublette Ever bought any furs of Cunningham.
I understood from reports in Camp,that Cunningham had hired himself to Smith Jack-
son & Sublette for one year from about the tenth of July Eighteen hundred & twenty
seven, together with his horses & Equipment for something like nine hundred dollars
and reports came in confirmed tome by Smith himself when I saw him again that Cunn-
ingham had been Killed about the thirteenth of the following month — When I came
down in Eighteen hundred and thirty I wrote to Joseph Cunningham to come and settle
with Smith Jackson & Sublette as I understood that there was something due his
deceased brother- Some time after about the first of November of the same year I saw
him and he informed me that he had settled with them and showed me the money that
they had paid him - the amount I do not know and further this deponent saith not"

A
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THE WESTERN MAILS

DEATH ON THE CIMARRON

William L. Sublette, returning to St.Louils with 50 pack of beaver and 800 buffalo
robes, reports the death of his partner,the renowned mountain man/explorer,Jedediah
5. Smith at the hands of the Comanche Indians;

"Walnut Creek Near the arkansaw Sept 24th 1831

Dear Sir I am now this fair On my Way Back - We have had some hard luck Since we
left St Louis - On our Way out to Santafee we lost Mr Minter killd On On (sic) the
pawnee fork we supose by the pawnees - it hapened On the 19th of June - Mr J.S.
Smith was Killd On the Cimeron June 27th by the Comanches - We met with no Other
losses by indians & arive in Santafee July &4th - the trace to Santafee hasz been

well Watcht by diferent nations of Indians this Season anoying the tradres there &
Back to this place - we have not lost any men as yet On Our return & but fiew
animals although there is about 300 head of loos Stock in Company - we are now
within 260 miles of Indipendence & will be Spliting in 2 or 3 days more - it will

be about 20 days yet be fore I will reach Indinendence as my miles are much fatigue
& my Waggon s tolerable Well Laidened - I have about 55 pack of Beaver furr & 800
Buffalow Robes On hand - Mr. Jackson & my Self have drawn on you for about 17600 $
pald for Beaver furr & 4500 § On act of Mr., Jackson himself - I sold Out te Mr
Jackson all the goods On hand & he is gone to the Callifornias in partnership With
doctor Walldoe - the Santafee traders maid out poorly this year generly speaking -
there is 49 Waggons coming in there is between 50 & 60 pack of Beaver in company
besides ours & 200 Buffaloe Robes & about 30000 $§ in Specea - if You Wisht to pur-
chase furr I think you Could doe So as there 15 men here that has furr who are

bound to make Salle to raise Cash - furrs Sold this Season in Santafee from & § to
4.25 Cents pr 1b at Santafee & Buffaloe Fdbes at 2 § Each _ I Wonld like to Get
3500 § at Franklin if Convenient as I have Borrowed Money of men living there &
there about who prefer it there though if it is not Convenient it Will make no

great diference - Our draughts On you are at 5 & 10 days after Sight - please Wright
to me where you think a letter will likely meet me first at Lexington or Franklin -
let me Know the prospect of Beaver furr & - I will Write by the first Oportunity
again - We have not got any returns from the rocky mountains - young Mr Austin Smith
(brother of Jedediah) is in Company - Mr Peter Smith & Mr Parkman is in the Spanish
Cuntery - I dont think they have maid any money On this trip - Peter Smith ( also a
brother of Jedediah) started for the Californa a fiew days before I left Santafee -
We Equipt M Thomas Fitzpatrick Out from Taos (N.Mesico) with about 40 men & Supplies
& Expected if he had time he would have returned before we left there but the time-
was two Short - we heard from Milton Sublette (brother of William) by the Santafee
trapers & they Said they understood he had taken about 50 pack of Beaver in the
Spring hunt which Was nearly Our pack to the Man - they Said they had heard from the
Company that had Crosst the mountains Last fall & they had maid a good hunt - if you
Can make araingements to Sell Our Robes & furr please doe so - Our furr is generly
of an Excelent quality taken in the mountains but Not So well handled as Our furr
generly - Excuse haist your most obt/W.L.Sublette "

Genl Wm H. Ashley
ook e o e ke e e e e e

See opposite page for commentary on this letter by the late Dale L. Morman,
;;th:r cf the definative biography of "Jedediah Smith And The Opening Of
e West",



DEATH ON THE UMPQUA RIVER

Depositions of ARTHUR BLACK on the deaths of JOHN GAITHER and JOHN HANNA, who
were killed by the Kelawatset Indians,on the UMPQUA RIVER in Oregon on July 14,
1828.5worn to before Patrick Walsh,Justice of the Peace,St.Louis County,in
the case against WM.L.Sublette on November 21,1832.

"Arthur Black of lawful age,being produced Sworn and Examined on the part of
the plaintiff,deposeth and saith,that he knew John Gaither deceased, to
have been in the Employment of Jedediah S.Smith,David E.Jackson and Will-
iam Sublette partners under the name and Style of Smith Jackson & Sublette
in the year 1827 as well as deponent recollects,that said John Gaither
deceased was Employed by the aforesaid firm in the year aforesaid at the
rate of three hundred and fifty dollars per annum; that said Gaither Served
the said firm one whole year at the above rate - that on the Second day of
July in the year 1828, the said Gaither and others including this deponent
had been engaged by Jedediah Smith,one of the partners of the aforesaid
firm or Company to go to the Rocky Mountains at one dollar per day - the
aforesaid Gaither & the others including this deponent started for the
Rocky Mountains in conformity to the said Engagement,and they were attac-
ked & defeated by the indians, that in said attack and in the Engagement
which consequently ensued fifteen of the men engaged by the firm or Company
as aforesaid were killed,and this deponent verily believes that the afore-
said John Gaither was one of the number of the killed in said attack. The
said deponent further states that the said John Gaither was in the Service
and employment of the said firmor Company for one year previous to the
year 1827;that he had Served with the said Gaither in the employment of the
Said Company or firmduring that time,but that he does not know what were
Said Gaithers wages during that year (1826) Arthur Black"

IR 222 2 22 2 22 TR R SRR R R

NOTE: Black,Gaither & Hanna were hired at Cache Valley Rendezvous in
July of 1826.Not 1828 as stated in the deposition.They left for Cal-
ifornia with Smith Aug.15th.See deposition of Robert Evans for more
on this expedition 1826/1829.THE following extract is from the rep-
ort of Dr.John McLoughlin,Chief Factor,Hudsons Bay Co.,Ft.Vancouver,
August 10,1828,to his superiors,as related to him by Arthur Black.

they lefe St. Francisco January last with about three hundred

Ty s By e T Horses bound for their Deport at Sale Lake.
- 2 [ Leaving St. Francisco they ascended the North Branch of the
= Jx’,’ .-h\, = % E:-: Bonaventura FraPping I}eavq_as they we.nt along till ll:hr_: :4_1:}1
: s Lk R . May, when finding it impossible to cross the Mountains with
=2 i ,’,; e J’: ,"i' ' their Horses in an Eastern direction they turned West and
?“—h; = ia e :/' fell on a River which took them to the Coast, and proceeded
LU AN~ P o 3 along it to the Umpqua where they were defeated. At the
:”f _ ,fH,_ Srs,,‘_ = moment of attack Mr. Smith was off with two men in a Canoe
=5 Ea SRRl TR to ascend and examine Bridge River, a stream that flows into
w5 Ain MASSACRE SITE ; the Umpqua, to see if he could find a road to take his Horses
=/ P ““'[ih | ... a short time afrer Mr. Smith’s departure, there being

2 Bocks L about a hundred Indians in the Camp and the Americans busy
;iﬁ"m'? arranging their arms which gor wet the day previous, the
L Indians suddenly rushed on them, two got hold of his (Black's)

- Gun to take it from him, in contending with them he was
wounded on the hands by their Knives and another came with
an axe to strike him on the head, which he avoided by Spring-
ing on one side and received the blow on the back. He then
ler go his Gun and rushed to the woods, as he was coming

Y

~'"-.

L T b
(‘:”1"%3 i

REEDSPOAT] %

T {1 gy

Camp of July 13-14,

1828; site of the massacre away he saw two Indians on one Virgil [Thomas Virgin], an-

of the morning of July 14, other, Davis { Thomas Daw], was in the water and Indians were
1828 pursuing him in a Canoe, a third was on the ground and a band
Q — of Indians were butchering him with axes . . .
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DEATH OF JEDEDIAH S. SMITH ON THE SANTA FE TRAIL
Historic letter written by William L. Sublette from Walnut Creek, near the
Arkansas river, on September 24,1831, to Wm. H. Ashley, Placed in the mails
at "Independence Mo October 1st" 1831. Rates 18 3/4 cents to St. Louis.
ook Fode o e R e e ek e i e ok e
"The letter is paralleled somewhat by two extant letters written from the
same locality on the same day, by Austin Smith to his father and brother,
and all three letters setting forth the circumstances of the death of
Jedediah Smith at the hands of the Comanches, besides detailing Peter
Smith's venture(in association with Samuel Parkman)in the California/
New Mexican trade. In addition, Sublette's letter gives a much more de-
tailed account of Minter's being killed by the Pawnees, the only source
to date the occurrence (stated as Jure 19, but transparently May 19;
Sublette dates Smith's death for June 27, a similar mistake for May 27).
Moreover, Sublette provides details as to the dissolution of his partner-
ship with David E. Jackson (Smith,Sublette & Jackson), recounts the moun-
tain news insofar as it has filtered south to Santa Fe, remarks on the
returns of the traders, and indicates something of the nature of his own
business relationship with Ashley. The letter is a major documentation of
fur trade history." Dale L.Morgan, October 2,1956.
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ROCKY MOUNTAIN f
EXPEDITION

On Feb.28,1831,Lt.
Reuben Holmes,wrote

[
[
§
I

to General Atkinson %&_ﬂn #féu /?éﬂ C“(‘ - ! E -

a proposal to lead

an expedition to the
Rocky Mountains. It
would be a reconnai-
ssance to observe
the geography,miner-
alogy,statistics &c,
useful to the govern-
ment,both civil and
military.The War Dept.
was willing to give

him 3 years leave,but

would not finance the = —
project.Before Holmes

could get financial backing,he died on Nov.
4,1833.He had been promoted to Captain on’
Mar.4th.Apparently he had asked Jedediah 5.
Smith to act as guide to the expedition.SEE
Dale L.Morgan's letter on opposite page.Then
note the cover and note to General Ashley on
this page,which is signed "J.S.Smith" by
S.Parkman,who also wrote the address on the
cover to the Secretary of War.Both are clear-
ly in the hand of Samuel Parkman, who was
Smith's clerk.Apparently Morgan did not com-
pare the handwriting of Parkman with the
cover.Dale Morgan died before this discovery
was made.
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JEDEDIAH S.SMITH'S BROTHER

PETER SMITH to O.H.Fitch at Ashtabula,Ohio,wants information regarding a mortgage
he holds in the amount of $ 85.00.In the letter he mentions his youngest brother Ira,
which helps identify him and Ira as brothers of Jedediah Smith,the mountain man/fur
trader and expolorer. He notes the hard times they are having —-"we have very little
money that will pass,State Bank of I11- 60 percent discount Shawny Town [ Shawneetown]

111 do = do all currant funds we have,is Specie & Inianna P.Smith"
Letter bears a nice strike of the territorial postmark of Mt PLEASANT IOWA JUN 25,
(1842).
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2001 Benverme Aveme, Apt. 1b
Berkeley L, Calif,
March 27, 1962

Mr. Floyd E. Risvold
9321 Floominghton Freeway
Minneapolis 20, Minn.

Dear Floyd:

This is a fascinating piece from a puzzle that you have sent me.
T+ does seem that this letter mst involve Jedediah Smith, but as you
note, it is not addressed in his hand (nor in Ashley's; and Ashley was
not entitled to the franiding privilege in March, 1831, amyhow). I
wondered if the hand could be that of Samel Farkman, Jedediah's clerk
in 1830-1831, btut that doesn't pan out either.

The lorical place to look is in the National Archives, and accordingly
T have written a friend who does research chores for me on occasion to
see if there is arny record of such a letter ever having been received in
the Wab Department, and any follow-up that may present itself, TIf I am
not mistaken, I have myself in times past checked the registers of letters
received in the War Department for 1831 without having come across any
Smith entry. But maybe the entry could have been made under the name
of Holmes; so I have requested a search in widening circles.

T should presume that Holmes is Reuben, then 1lst lieutenant in the
6th infantry, who died on November L, 1833. He turns up occasionally in
frontier amnals of the late 1820's, and published in the St. Louls Beacon
in 1829 the first account of Edward Rose. Put I have seen no intimation
of a goverrment expedition to the Rockies in 1831, involving him or
arnybody else, so I have asked Joe Colran to look into this Holmes angle,
too. It may even be that it was Holmes who franked the latter "free,"
though he should have known better than to have called Faton Eeaton, or
addressed him as "Secretary at War." This latter phrase was also used in
the mamscript cory of the Smith, Jackson & Sublette letter of October
29, 1830, but the handwriting on your address leaf is not the same as that
on the 1830 letter in the National Archives.

I'11 let you know what I may find out, and if any information comes
vour way, I would be pleased to have you share it with me,

With curgigl regards,

Ll

Dale L. Morgan
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- o THE WESTERN MAILS

GROVONT VILLAGE ON THE MISSOURI 1833
"Grovont Yillage Sept 25th 1833

Mr. Robt Campbell Dear Sir I arive here this Evening and found all well the
Mandans & Grovonters have Just Maid peace with the Yancktonais & two hundred
Lodges Left here to day — I shall take Sabille [Sibille & Adams ] down with me to
traid with the Yancktonaies - Mr.Daugherty [John] has traide upward of One hun-
dred Roabs & Nine Beaver — they are in want of Copper Kettles here & wish you to
Send all down you think you Can Spare - Some Chiefs Coats Say a half doz {ten or
fifteen pouns of Stone Stone [sic] white & Blue Beads Small - Some 6 Doz Best Red
Handle Knives - 1 Doz 6 inch flat & 3 Square files - 2 quire of paper - 10 1bs
Vermillion - Some Small Brass Wire & Some Iron wire or or [sic] Large Brass for
Rist Bands - Some Oval Blue Beasds & white if you have them to spare - 1 gross the
Largest fire Steels & few pair of Striped Blankets - the 01d man Charbino [ Touss-
aint Charbonneau*] thinks he will Want Some more powder & Ball in the Spring - Mr
daugherty has got Out all his pickets for the fort and the Indians are determined
to have a fort here or they will be much disatisfied - I think you had better Send
two more good working hands [who] under Stand Rafting down here that they may be
getting out timber this winter & have all ready for spring - they want a cross cut
Saw whip & Frow [?] if you can have one maid - they are in great'need of a cart
here & I think you had better Send down a pair of Wheels & two Set of harness & they
have halling to doe - if you Could get a Bull Boat for those things to Come down in
it will be Best - John Reshaw talks of Staying here in pontoes plaice if he does he
will fetch you this Letter - the Indians apear in fine Spirits & have furnisht the
Men with meat for nothing whilst they was Geting out the pickets and Say as Soon as
the hunters are ready they will help down with them (Some of those articles I have
written for Sabille thinks he will want - there was Six of the Assinouoines
[Assiniboin Indians] here a fiew days Since and after Some difficulty they Smoak &
maid a treaty with the grovonters - Mr McKenzie maid a Lengthy Speach at the Mandans
I have been informed & gave out the Bigg talk as the saying is - they [American Fur
Co.] have one traider here he has traided about thirty Roabs whilst Daugherty has
nearly thrubled him - give these goods at the Same price as we doe excepting the
amunition & they Give 70 Loads whilst we give 60 - I stated above that a Skin [Bull]
Boat would be Best but on Reflection those articles I Expect will have to Come down
in a Canoe & I cant See how the Cart wheels will manage which is wanting here worst
of'any articles likely - they Can be arainge on a Canoe in Some way - you will Excuse
this Letter & try to make Out its Contents if you Can - it is now Late at night & my
health is not of the Best But I am Some better than when I Left you - I have Instruc-
ted Mr Daugherty to buy 50 or 60 Bushels of Corn as youmay Send down for it Soon - I
think if you was to Send down two more Keggs of Powder & Ball it would not be a miss
as Sabille thinks he will want it as there is Some of the Souones [sioux] with the
Yancktonaies,and intend wintering with them & he thinks his Supplies will fall
Short - Yours with Respect/Wm L Sublette

Capt Robt Campbell I have been thinking if you Could Send down a mackinaw Boat

. here Early in the Spring that is as Soon as the Ice is Out of the River it would be
Well to take the Robes from this place & those that Sabille may have traided down as
I think there will be a mackinaw Boat Load down from those two plaices - if Mr Daugh-
erty thinks if he does not Get those articles down this fall his traid will fall
much Shorter as the Copper Kettles are all out - He is Scarce of Knivs also as it
takes a great many Knivs to traid Corn - You will have to Send two or three man down
as Ponto have been trying to kill him Self & I am force to take him down and have got
Van Vulkenburg to Stay in his plaice which is a bad chance - they want a machin for
Gulowing [drilling post holes?] out posts - Mr Daugherty is plaice here in rather
an awkward Situation - the 01d man Sharbino has become quite childish & has to be
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Folded letter written by William L. Sublette to Robert Campbell on September 23,
1833, from the "Grovent Vilage'" near the Mandan towns. After laying in an outfit
with Ashley's help in the winter of 1832-33, the new partnership Sublette &
Campbell mounted a two-pronged trading venture, Campbell taking an outfit to the
mountains and afterward decending the Big Horn and Yellowstone Lo meet Sublette
at the confluence of the Yellowstone and Missouri, while Sublette brought two
keelboats up the Missouri, en route establishing opposition posts near the estab-
lishments of the American Fur Company. Near the junction of the Yellowstone and
the Missouri, in the vicinity of Fort Unionm, the two partners established Fort
William, concerning which a good ceal of information has been preserved by Prince
Maximilian,....Campbell remained to supervise the building of Fort William and
take charge of it afterwards, while Sublette slowly moved back down the river,
attending to the business of the firm at each established post. This letter
written some time after the partners separated is the only intimate communication
between the two which has survived from the time they were in the mountains, and
it is full of interesting details about their situation and plans in opposition

to the powerful American Fur Company. Dale L. Morgan,October 2,1956.
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heumored much which makes it very disagteeable and to turn himoff it will offend
the Indians as he has much Influence & will have much his Way in traid - yesterday
they had some words & Daugherty told him if he was not Sattisfied he might gou & he
Informed the Indians he was gouing which maid considerable disturbance but I have
Settled the matter to day & we must try & Rub out the year with the 01d man in Some
way & Likely there can be Some chainge maid next year plaicing him in one Vilage to
him Self with Some goods - I think Daugherty will doe all in his power & I feel in
hopes they will make a good traid this year if the Buffaloe Comes in it would be
well for yvou to Come down here when the Yellow Stone [ steamboat ] returns Comes down
Or take a 5ingle horse & Come down Some time in the Spring - if possible please let
them Know here if the Mackinaw Boat will be down in the Spring Early or no, that
Sabille may Know how to make his araingements as he will have to purchaice Some
Skins of the Indians for a bull boat - three men will fetch the Boat down Empty or if
You have a few pack[s,of furs] to Send down in the Boat you might doe So & if they
Could not take all Some might be Left here & Daugherty will Know what Sabille has
done through the winter - I will Write by Mr.McKenzie from the Teton or Little
Missouri Riv -"
—THE FOLLOWING IS WRITTEN FROM THE MANDAN VILLAGE-
"Sept 27th :

01d Mack Kenzie [was 36 years old ] has told them here that you Brought down the
yellow stone [river or boat ] a Boat Load whiskey & that Our Men was drunk all the
time & that we had been Selling it & the news Certainly would gou below - I am now
at the Mandans & wind bound - the Indians apear much please here and talk fair -
they talk of Brass Kettles all - Chief Coates - the time - Daugherty will be Scarce
of Knives & a fiew doz of comon ones would doe well for to traid Corn - I shall pro-
pose to McKenzie what was talk of But I think he will not take yet if you Should
Sucede with him try to Get a division of the Cuntery — Keep tour Eye Skind about trai-
ding whisky Wine - I have under Stood that Likely two or three of the men that
iz with Sabille will Femain in the Cuntery next year to trap on their account or
Engage to the Company to trap by the Skin or in Some way - I have told them I will
furnish them with an Equipmt next year - One of Daughertys man Said Holcom have
maid aplication to trap nex year - he will hire or take Equip or hire for that pur-
pose - if you Should Send the Makinaw Boat Likely you had Better Send the more men
with it as I think some of those will wish to Stay with Sabille and Daugherty will
want all with himuntil the Last Boat will Come down

Robe acts Daugherty traided b
at the Grovonts Vilages—-—-----——-—- 84 [addressed] Capt Robt Campbell
BEaVer——————— e 11 Fort William
‘Daron [probably Martin Dorion] at [Endorsed ] Received October 12th
Mandans RobesS-————ce—mememeeea—- 30m 1833~

kTR ETE Rk kA kN hkhkhkhkhkkkkkkkk: /W ~

*Toussaint Charbonneau was the husband
of Sacagaweah the Snake squaw who help-
ed guide the Lewis & Clark expedition
in 1805/1806.Their halfbreed son, Jean
Baptiste,was born at the Mandan Village
Feb.11,1805.According to Dale Morgan,
Sacagaweah died at Manuel's Fort on the
upper Missouri Dec.20,1812.Baptiste
was sent to St.Louis where his educa-
tion was financed by Wm.Clark and in
1823 he was taken to Germany by Prince
Paul,Duke of Wurttemberg,and given
an extensive education,before return-
ing to the upper Missouri and the fur
trade. He died in 1866 .

BULI-BOATS AT MANDAN VILLAGE
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JOSHUA PILCHER fur trader,Indian agent
and Superintendent of Indian Affairs at
St.Louis for a short time following the
death of Gen.Wm.Clark in 1838.Died at
St.Louis in 1843.

MARTIN SWORD an Iroguois Indian trapper.
A promissory note issued at the Wind River
Rendezvous on July 28,1830 in the amount
of $1,452.40 for beaver, receipted for on
reverse by the X mark Df Sword and witness-

}___ ed by Robert Campbell.The statement marked
;;fImZéaﬂ l: o by the X of Sword in in the hand of William
,;M,,/_i_ L. Sublette.
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WIND RIVER RENDEZVOUS 1830

The 1830 Fur Trade Rendezvous was held at the confluence of the Popo Agie with
the Wind River near Riverton,Wyoming. The promissory note in the amount of
$1,520.73 3/4, was for beaver ‘skins bought from Johnson Gardner, an indepen-
dent trapper,working with Smith,Jackson & Sublette. It is signed by Thomas
Fitzpatrick,as agent for the company ,under date of "Wind River Augt 1st 1830".
See below for endorsements on reverse by Fitzpatrick,R.M.F.Co.agt,Pr.Chouteau
Jr.agt.Am.Fur Co.,Wm .L.Sublette and the X mark of Johnson Gardner,which is
testified by Kenneth McKenzie.On August 4,1830 Smith ,Jackson & Sublette sold
out to Thomas Fitzpatrick,James Bridger,Milton Sublette,Henry Fraeb and Jean
Gervais under the name of The Rocky Mountain Fur Company. Shorty after this the
Rendezvous broke up - the trappers going back to their trap lines and Smith,
Jackson & Sublette going back to St.Louis loaded with beaver.

g ekt




THE WESTERN MAILS

. JAMES BRIDGER & HENRY G.FRAER

"State of Missouri
County of 5t Louis John B.Sarpy being sworn upon his ocath says, that
on the 8th day of August [1832] last he was appointed by the judge of the Pro-
bate Court for the County aforsaid,administrator of the Estate of Henry
Fraeb then lately deceased. Said Fraeb had been a trader in the mountains,&
was at time of his death in partnership with a man of the name of James Bridger;
& said Bridger & Fraeb were indebted to the firm of Pierre Chouteau Jr Co, & it
was feared by the members of said firm that unless some one became the admin-
istrator of the said Fraeb, the said Bridger might interpose difficulies in the

' settlement of the accounts geting between them & Bridger & Fraeb - & for the
purpose of doing justice to themselves,as well as to the said Fraeb the said
Sarpy applied for letters of administration,which were granted to him as above
mentioned - The said Bridger has however since this time been here & has settled
in full the accounts geting between the firm of Pierre Chouteau Jr Co & the said
Bridger & Fraeb. And the said Sarpy says that no property has come into his
hands as the administrator of the said Fraeb,although it may be that the said
Fraeb has property in the indian country or in the hands of James Bridger his
former partner John B.Sarpy"

Sworn to & subscribed before me this
twentieth day of June 1843
Geo A Hyde Justice”

****ttttii‘*******iiti****t*ttttt**t‘tt*****‘l‘

Henry Fraeb - pronocunced FRAPP by the trappers.No record of his birth or age.
He was one of five men who bought out Smith Jackson & Sublette,at the Wind River
Rendezvous in 1830, forming The Rocky Mountain Fur Co.See Thomas Fitzpatrick's
note to Johnson Gardner for beaver skins at Wind River August 1,1830,1in this
collection. In 1837 Fraeb formed a partnership with Peter Sarpy.a brother of
John B.Sarpy. They built Fort Jackson on the South Platte and in 1838 sold out
to Bent & St.Vrain. In 1840 Fraeb formed a partnership with James BEridger as
noted in the deposition by J.B.Sarpy.In August of 1841 Fraeb led a brigade of
trappers in the valley of the Little Snake River,near the Wyoming line in Colo-
rado,where they met a large party of Cheyennes,Arapahoes and Sioux.A pitched
battle occured in which Fraeb was killed as described by Capt.Howard Stansbury:

@apt. Howard Stansbury, guided near the site of the battle by Jim Bridger in
1850, was told of the fight by Fraeb's partner. Stansbury reports in his Exploration
and Survey of the Falley of the Great Salt Lake, etc. {Washington, 1853), 239, a
preliminary fight and then the main attack about ten days later. Fraeb *had but
forty men; but they instantly ‘forted’ in the corral attached to the trading post and
stood on their defence. The assault lasted from noon until sundown, the Indians
charging the picket several times with great bravery; but they were finally re-
pulsed with the loss of forty men. Frappe himself was killed, with seven or eighe
of his people.”
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THE WESTERN MAILS

FUR TRADE EXPRESS ON THE UPFER MISSOURI

FORT CLARK. Folded letter below was written by David Dawson
Mitchell,the agent in charge, to his counterpart, William
: Laidlaw,at Fort Tecumseh. It is datelined "Mandan Village
ot 11th Mareh 1832", Mitchell writes: ",..the arrival of an
Express from Fort Union enables me to put you in posse-
ssion of what little news we have at this place...The
bunting season is now over...trade will be much better
+2sl will send down my men as you request to bring up
the Louisville (steamboat) on the breaking up of the
ice, Mr.Cerre (Gabriel Pascal) writes me word that
it will be impossible for him to make cannces to
decend for want of skins. So I have requested him
to send Lachapelle (Dominiouwe} to this place -
when I would Endeavour to furnish skins for at
least one cannoe - for Lachapelle to go down as
far as the Rees (Indians) - Suposing it would be
necessary for him to be there as early as
possible to commence his trade for fear of
oposition - his presence will encourage the
Indians to dress their Robes,..from what
: 1 Lachapelle tells me the Yenctona (Indians)
““ﬁfﬁ‘hxhiin W + returns will be very poor..."

The letter was carried by an Express of the
American Fur Company to Fort Tecumseh,which
was close to Fort Pierre, on the present
day site of Pierre,South Dakota.

It i5 the earliest recorded letter to bear
manuseript transite markings from the Upper
Missouri Country before the establishment
of the Dakota Territory in 1861,
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ENROUTE TO PIERRE'S HOLE & FUR TRADE RENDEZVOUS OF 1832.

Wm.Sublette writes to Genl.Wm.H.Ashley "from Independence May 12,1832,0n sett-
ing out for the mountains on his solo trading venture of that year....it illumin-
ates the continuing business relationship of Sublette and Ashley,and shows some-
thing of the problems of supply and procurement that attended all these mountain
ventures.Also it includes information on the more or less independent trading
ventures of Robert Campbell and Thomas Fi tzpatrick,and notes that 24 Bostonians
were in company - a group from which Nathaniel Wyeth was shortly to emerge as a
major personality of the fur trade." Dale L.Morgan.SEE Wyeth letter in this coll-
ection.The Judge Wash refered to was Patrick Walsh,Justice of the Feace,at Saint
Louis.

"Independence May 12th 1832
Dear Sir tomorow morning I leave this place for the mountains - I am about 12 days
later than I Expected but it has been partly Owing to the delay of my goods from St
Louis & partly o[w]ing to heavy rains [w]lhich has raisd all the small Creeks on the
road - it has raisd nearly Every day for about two weeks - I have about One hundred
.& 65 head of mules & horses though nearly all mules as I could not get pone[s] that
would Suit the trip.My mules Cost me from forty to fifty five Dollars Each that I
have had to purchase - it took more mules than I expected by about 10 head to take
Out the Supplies for the mountains - since I purchace those of Mr.Smith[Jedediah
S.] Last fall I have lost Qut of my Band 11 head of Mules & One horse in Spite of all
the Care I Could take of them & I have 5 yet that is Scarcely able to pack there
Saddles though I have Enough without them to get On & I Intend to make them Carry my
provisions On as I have hired a waggon to gon withme 4 or 5 days - I have not Lost
any men Since I started from 5t Louis & I have drawn Sundry Small Orders on you for
them to the amount of about three hundred Dollars - I will here give you the amount
of Money Rece [owed] by me & alsoc alist [sic] of drafts Drawn On you & notes in Bank
&c which I wish you to Settle _

March the firgst Cash Recvd-=ecmemeecmmee oo 2079.00
April dth-—-—----— Cash—————— e __ 2000.00
4079.00

March 29th Draft to Saville & Morton on -ach-ef- Kenerly
On the act of Mr Fitzpatrick due 29th July--- 500 ==

April 19th Draft in favour of E.Tracy due five days after
sight 712.00

19th Order to Henry Shaw On Judg Wash/Due June 20th 488.85
Draft to Thornton Grimsley Due June 20th for 215.00
April - My note in Bank Endorsed by T Grimsly
die Jurne 20Eh 1832 - cmcmee e e e e e e €75.00

April 20 Draft to John H. Gay for five days after sight 150.63

Draft to Hawkens [Jacob]* five days after sight 272.62%
April 23 My note in Bank August 23d/Endorsed by Judg
Wash for 1500.00
May 9th Draft in favour of James & Robt Aull due 5 days
after sight for-—————cmmmmme o 600.00

My Note due Judg Wash fOor—-=-—=-cc oo 200.00




THE WESTERN MAILS

this is about the amount I believe that I am Owing as fair as I know it amounty to
about One thousand dollars more than I told I Expected it would & I had money to
pay for Mr Fitzpatrick more than I Expected - provisions & grain has been Verry
high - Corn from 50 to 75 Centy pr Bushel - Bacon 8 Centy - flower 3% p hundre &
Every thing in proportion - I have 50 hans hired On my Own act.Mr Cambell has five
besides him self & Mr Fitzpatrick & 4 trapers that is going Out forms our Company
- there is 24 Bostonians [Wyeth's Company ] Going On with me if they can Keep up as
they are On foot — They was 28 strong when they Left St Louis but 4 have left them

I have now paid my hans One thousand One hundred & twenty Six dollars 70/100
towards there wagers - I have also let Mr Fitzpatrick have Since he Come in last
fall $1373.70 cents besids the draft of five hundred to Kinerly - I belive this
is the Standing of my afairs - I will leave here with Mr Owens alist of the mens
acts - a note On Mr Burch for $221.69 cnt - also Some other papers & Receipts of
different persons & if any acident should happen to me I wish you Would Send &
get them or if I should not return this fall - as business as well as life is un-
certain it is my Intention to try & Be back to St Louis about the first of Oct if
no accident happens - Nothing more at present but remain ygur most

Genl Wm.H.Ashley" Obedent Svt/Wm.L.Sublette

i.-**t*'.t**1\:*******************i*i*******’Wm

N
N
x%\{.‘

NG

Postmarked at "Independence Mo/May 12th" 1832 and
rated 18 3/4 "-to-S5aint-Louis.

Sublette left Independence the day after he wrote this letter - May 13th. His
supply train consisted,according to the letter,of a wagon and 165 head of mules
and horses and 85 men including Robert Campbell,Thomas Fitzpatrick, Nathaniel
Wyeth and the Bostonians. They arrived at Pierre's Hole on July 8th, in the
beautiful valley on the west side of the Grand Tetons,in what is now known as
Teton Valley,Idaho.This was probably the largest and most picturesque rendez-
vous ever held in the Rocky Mountains.It was attended by the American Fur CO.,
the Hudson's Bay Co. and the Rocky Mountain Fur Co.,as well as independent trap-
pers and a host of Nez Perz and Flathead Indians.In all there were probably 1000
people and more than 2000 horses and mules.

*Jacob Hawkens was a well known gunsmith of St.Louis,famous for the rifles he
made under his name - the Hawken rifle.
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THE WESTERN MAILS

NATHANIEL J.WYETH"S FIRST EXPEDITION TO OREGON COUNTRY
g 1

Wyeth left Boston March 10,1832 and arrived at St.Louis,Missouri with a party
of twenty four men on April 18th,after having stopped off to see his brother,who
operated a mercantile business in Baltimore. Kenneth McKenzie gave Wyeth's party
transportation to Independance,Missouri on an American Fur CO. steamboat, vhere
they jained Wm.L.Sublette's annual Supply caravan to the summer Rocky Mountain
Rendezu:cu at Pierre's Hole,now called Teton Valley,on the west side of the Grand
Tetons,in Idaho.After a long journey of fifty two days Wyeth arrived with twenty
one men,three having deserted. This letter was written the day Wyeth arrived in
St.Louis,April 18,1832.

28

A
o N ¥ .
Lt il /ﬂ:l,l, ﬁ 9 4
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"St.Louis April 18th 1832"

Dear Wife Here I am on the outskirts of Civil Socity having advan-
ced so far without accident and without the decertion of a single man.
I leave this in company with a party of traders of 40 persons who jour-
ney with me as far as the west side of the Rocky Mountains.In the first
vessell that comes out to the Columbia [River] I wish seeds of all veg-
itables,grains and trees sent me for which purpose be collecting them
this fall.I wish only a small quantity of each. I amdisappointed
in not receiving a letter in this place from you, it would have been
some satisfaction but it is now too late. I cannot receive on this side
of the Mountains,if you wish to write me your next opportunity will be
through Mess.Tucker & Williams. Good by and God bless you - I have no
more time to write more. ¥r aff. Husband Nath J Wyeth"

Postmarked at St LOUIS APR 18 MO.

Rated "25"cents postage. /’{fﬁ
- .

W
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FUR TRADE RENDEZVOUS 1832

RENDEZVOUS 1822 Historic letter written by Nathaniel J. Wyeth from the
Rocky Mountain Rendezvous in Pierre's Hole just three days before the fight
with the trappers and the Blackfoot Indians which is known to history as the
Battle of Pierre's Hole (located in Idaho, see map above).

Wm. L. Sublette, the well-known Mountain Man, fur trader and explorer,
left the Rendezvous on July 30th, or shortly thereafter, with this letter and
169 packs of Beaver. He arrivad in 5t. Louis on October 3 and placed this letter
in the Post Office as per postmark “Oct 5°. The map above indicates his route
to and from the Rendezvous. The portion in GREEN is the last leg of the route
to the Rendezvous and that portion in RED is the route back to St. Louis,
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THE WESTERN MAILS

FUR TRADE RENDEZVOUS
PIERRE'S HOLE 1832

NATHANIEL JARVIS WYETH was a Boston merchant who spent five memor-
able years in the fur trade of the far west.Before going west,Wyeth
was in the business of harvesting pond ice and shipping it to such
far away places as the West Indies,Scuth America,India and Californ-
ia. During the gold rush of 1849 the best bars in San Francisco adver-
tized that they served New England Pond Ice with all their drinks.In
1831 Wyeth became interested in the far west through the agitations
by Hall J.Kelley for American occupation of the Oregon country in the
late 1820's. The same ysar he organizsd the Pacific Trading Co. and
by April 1832 he was back in St.Louis with a party of 23 men includ-
ing his brother Dr.Jaccb Wyeth,a cousin,John B.Wyeth,John Ball and 19
others.From St.Louis they traveled up the the Missouri on the steam-
boat OTTER TO Independence,where they joined the annual supply caravan
to the Rendezvous at Pierre's Hole under the guidance of Wm.L.Sublette.

The folded letter on the opposite page and transcribed below was wriiten

by Wyeth from Pierre's Hole on July 1l4th, just three days before the fight

with the trappers and the Blackfeet which is known to history as the

Battle of Pierre's Hole.

"Two Thirds the way across July 14th 1832 ._fﬁﬁ‘

Brother Charley I write in haste to let you know where Iam,
being on the head waters of South Branch Lewis River with 12
men,the rest all deserted from time to time,an then more under
circumstances of peculiar vilany,the party by whom I write
are moving,and I can write but little,in coming out I have
lost half of my goods, and horses, and half of the residue,
of my goods have gone to get more horses,we have had a most
ludicras fight with the Blackfeet,no blood drawn,but I lost
4 horses.I am now through all the dangerous country.,and I
think I can make money here,after learning the business. I
am yet in good heart and will do somthing.I must ask you to
excuse my overdrawing. I was obliged to do it and trust to
the lenity of my friends to overlook it - please give my
respects to Mr Jarvis and my love to your good wife and all

friends - tell Charley that uncle Nat is among the wild horses.
yr aftc Bro Nathe.J.Wyeth

Write me to the care of Mr Willm.L.Sublette St.Louis - It may

rea":h mE“ (I EEEEER R R RS R AR SRS S SRR

NOTES: The skirmish referred to in the letter took place on July 8th and
it was on July 17th that the big fight with the Indians and the trappers
took place in which several of Sublette's men were killed and wounded.If
is not known how many Indians were killed or wounded. Wyeth's men had
become discouraged and deserted from time to time including his brother
Jacob and his cousin Johnwho later wrote on his western adventure;
OREGON:A Short History of a Long Journey,Cambridge.Mass.l1833. A rare
collectors item today. A few days after the fight,Wyeth with 11 men con-
tinued west to Fort Vancouver on the Columbia River in the Oregon coun-
try.The following year he returned to Boston after visiting the Green
RBiver Rendezvous of 1833.Here he entered into a contrecat with the Rocky
Mountain Fur Co. to supply the rendesvous of 1834.SEE Samuel letter in
this collection for Wyeth's second expedition into the west.



PIERRE"'S HOLE RENDEZVOU 1832

"Other Side of the Rocky Mountains
July 14th 1832~

Dear Wife In good health and spirits I have arrived here Two thirds to
my journes end. Livermore and two others deserted me and stole two horses.
if he cals please great himwith the contempt he desreves - 7 more have
deserted me since leaving me 12 men which is all I want having got through
all the dangerous country - I had a bloodless skirmish with the Black feet
Inds. by whom I lost 4 Horses - I have got so far with as little difficulty
as I expected.You will not hear from me agaln for some time and this letter
must be short as the party by whom it is sent must move on.

Iam yr afte. Husbhand Nathe J.Wyeth"
EEEREEEE A AR XA XA A AR 444444 H

o \
i Carried "fawv of Mr.
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Wm.L.Sublette to
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N AaS ¢ LA St .LOUIS MO OCT 5
[')a..u..- ViR 7 . 1832, as per post-
e marked. See also

F— G % i i d | letter to Charles
’"’r/,!.'h:i'-;;:,,L éﬂ(/ﬂﬂ ;/’%5/20 Wyeth of same date,
: f e, carried by Sublette
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Supply caravan enroute to the fur trade Rendezvou.



THE WESTERN MAILS
"Fort Vancouver Jany 16 1833"

Friend Brown. I am about commencing my return home,and if I am not very
unfortunate I shall arrive in Oct.next, I have now but two men,and therefore
can only travel when I can get company of whites or friendly Indians.I return
by a different route from that by which this will reach you in order to raise
some deposits of valuables which I have near the mountains.[mostlikely beaver
pelts] my men proved worse than none, they would starve amid the greatest plenty
of game,and their leaving was rather a benefit than otherwise.I will not here
give you the particulars of my journey out,as I promised,the incidents are un-
interesting as you can possibly imagine,there is much less of the advefitute
expected than you would think possible,eating somtimes plenty of good meat,
somtimes none,and occaisionlly a peice of poor horse meat,is the whole story,
danger there is a little,when you have plenty of company,and without that no
one traveld here ,the plan of my route is to leave this in company with a party
of the Hudsons Bay cos. people,with whom I get to the Flatheads or Fonderays,
with themuntil I fall in with some Am.[erican] Trapping party,with these to
their rendesvus, take their return convoy home.In this there is so much disapp-
ointment that it need occasion no suprise if I do not reach home for a year after
the time above stated.Having traveled almost constantly since I last saw you,
somtimes on foot,somtimes on horseback,and somtimes by boats,you will imagine
Iam tired of a way [of] passing life,nevertheless like all kinds of 1ife it
has some charms, it has been a great relief tome the Blue devils do not trouble
me quite so much as formerly,on the other hand I have some more real troubles,
but these better all always borne.I shall make agreat loss this first part of
the undertaking, and like Jobs messengers I shall expect with the skin of my
teeth.You will expect to hear a 1ittle of the face of the country and to £111 up
the paper I will gratify you,From the rocky mountains to within 200 miles of the
sea the country is open,Barren,and in its summit level far from mountainous,
but in this space there are ranges of mountains,and the rivers seem to follow in
enormous cracks,their banks perpindicilar mostly without bottom lands, and
their beds filled with great stones,rapids and falls,the days are intensely
hot,and the nights equally cold,in August I have observed the ther[mometer] at
‘18 at night and the following day at 85 this circumstance alone without the
barreness of the soil,or want of communications and impossibility of making
them,would forever render this section of the country what it is now a den of

.The country within 200 miles of the coast is more mountainous covered
with perhaps as heavy timber as the world produces chiefly of the pine,there is
one kind of good oak,similar to the white oak of N.E.[New England] but not the
same,this section unlike the first named is a moist region.at least in winter
when it rains at least half the time in summer - I am told it is dry,the soil is
Black,but not as rich as the color would indicate,this color is the result of
the decomposition of the rocks which are all black and volcanic,nine tenths of
the country is too precipitous for ploughing - there are almost no bottom lands
on the Columbia that are not annually flooded,the only good country that I have
seen is on the Multnomah or Wallammet [rivers] ,there the country consith of
moderate soiled praries surrouned with wood among which there is much oak and
maple,the soil is deep and nearly level,and lies on the best navigation of the
country,there being but one fall between this and the sea,in this country there
are plenty of deer,I am told there is good land on the River and at
Pugetts Sound,but these places I have not seen and I have learned to take thr
reports of others with great caution.I can not by this conveyance speak of
business therefore you must be satisfied with what you have now got[untilyou see
] me. Will you have the goodness to tel [ your nephew and ] Mrs.B. and remind
James if his uncle [tornout] will not reccolect me.I am anxious to knowif Capt.
Lee used my decoy place to good advantage last fall."

/,
W

Yr,Afte,Friend
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"Fort Vancouver Jany 16th 1833"

Dear Wife I am here and comfortable,and shall start from this place on
my route homwards as soon as the river breaks up,My route will be the same
as that by which I came,and the time of my arrival at home very uncertain -
on this account I write you by this opportuninty as this opportunity is
unsuitable for the conveyance of many sentimates and matters which would
otherwisw pass between us,my letter will be short.If no accinent occdures
tome I will be with you in october,but if I ama year later yYou need not be
alarmed, in this country there is little danger,but much delay,more espe-
cially as I have now but two men,and I can only travel when & where I can get
the company of friendly Indians or American parties, for this reason I may
be a whole year later home than the time specified. My business has been
very bad but in this country I can always be comfortable. I wish you to
keep the trees which I set around the house growing and if any die replace
them. I have not suffered for food since leaving you, for some time I have
lived at one of the Hudsons Bay Cos. pests- they here have all the essen-
tials of life except pretty wives. If I should prolong this it would be on
subjects that would not interest you much,and hoping to see you soon close-
it Nath.J.Wyeth"®
Yr.Afte.Husband
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FORT VANCOUVER, OREGON COUNTRY .

" On July 24,1832,following the battle of Pierre's Hole,Milton Sublette and
party.,along with Wyeth and company headed west,Milton to the Snake River
country and Wyeth to Fort Vancouver,where he arrived on the 29th of October,
1832. Here he was royally treated by Dr.John McLoughlin,chief factor in
charge of the Hudson's Bay Company,while he explored the surrounding country
with the view of establishing a trading company on the west coast.On February
3rd he started back home with a H.B.Company fur brigade,stopping off at the
annual summer rendezvous,held on the Green River in 1833.Here he made a.contr-
act to supply Wm.Sublette with trade goods the following year of 1834. Wyeth
arrived back in Cambridge the first week in NovembexrIn the course of the winter
Milton joined him in Boston to buy goods for the contract that he had made at the
1833 rendezvous. !

The two letters,both written from Fort Vancouver Jany.l16, 1833,to h:].s wife and
James Brown,relate to how he travels and the probable date that he will get
back home,as well as a description of the country.

"/‘//ar% At £ernr— )g””z f/x;;rfﬁ*;
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Both letters were carried,as per directive "Fav of the Hon./Hudsons Bay Co.",
up the Columbia to the "Boat Encampment on the great bend of the river.Thence

by pack horses across the Rocky Mountains via Athabasca Pass to the North
Saskatchewan River to Lake Winnepeg and the Great Lakes o Montreal, where

it entered the Canadian mails as per the red "PAID" handstamp and the red"64"
rate. Thence across the line via Lake Champlain,where it entered the U.S.MAILS,
as per red "B" (steamboat) and "18 3/4" rate to Boston.See map of this route
across North America in this collection.
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HUDSON'’S BAY EXPRESS TO THE COLUMBIA RIVER

Fig. 1 This cover is a unigue example of transcontinental mail carried by the expresses of the Hudson's Bay
Company over its fur trade routes following the great watercourses of North America.

The letter originated, as per postmark, at WILBRAHAM MASS APR 8, and was routed through the regular
postal channels to LACHINE, L.C. April 13, 1844. From here it traveled west via the express boats, following the
rivers and lakes, to Fort Edmonton. From here by pack horses across the Rocky Mountains to the Columbia River,
and thence by express boats to its destination at Wascopam Mission where its arrival was noted on reverse of
letter “By Express Boats/Oct. 29, 1844" by Henry Bridgeman Brewer.

Fig. 2 This cover traveled the same route eastward from Fort Colville, Letter is datelined “Tshimakain Near Fort
Colvile/Oregon Mission 9th Feb. 1846."



50 Years Ago in Stamps: |
Oregon Mission Mail

The Hudson’s Bay Company Trade Routes
by D.W. Garber (From Stamps Magazine, December 23, 1954)

“Good news from a far coun-
try is like water o a thirsty soul.” | ©

Thus wrote Henry Bridge- |
man Brewer in acknowledging
receipt of a Norwich Courier, of
dinner bell for use on the farm, ! o
and most important of all, a pack- o
age of letters from family and |-
friends in New England. Writ- |
ing from Wiascopam Mission at |
the Dalles of the Columbia River
on May 28, 1842, he was ex- |
pressing the pleasure of his wife | -
Laura, and himself, at receiving |
the letters from home. Brewer
was the mission farmer.

These sentiments Were ech- |
oed on October 29, 1844, whena i
multiple letter was received byr%
Mr. Brewer, jointly written by |-
his mother, Jemima Brewer, his

P é’,'b,e,uk Zs Oalicin

Hudson's Bay Company. enjoyed

e e 3‘““* ! Ed}\ &~ h» [hiThﬂ.tl}nn{:Elﬂd with this ini-
2as quk 3*‘.}. i 11:1]. mission to the nor_thwest Was
L nm ‘-’“‘-\_.l 2 s unique. nor must the importance
e § B ¥ | ofthis small group be under-em-
SR ? > ol i phasized in its relation to the sto-

¥, S‘"i f Rl ry of early western communica-
W&l E tions. OF primary interest is the

history of the fur company in the
] exploration and development of
the west, and of the remarkable
cervices which they maintained
on their trade routes. However,
1 the story of the Oregon Mission
is not without significance and
interest, and the following dates
{ (milestones in the development

of the west) highlight the rela-

tionship of the Hudson's Bay

Company and the mail from the

Oregon Mission in the history of
- the trans-continental mail service

sister Cordelia Bt Brewer, and L
his brother Edwin B. Brewer.
This letter was mailed at Wilbra-
ham, Massachusetts, on April 8,
1844, and was directed to the care
of the Hudson's Bay Company agent at Lachine, Lower Canada.
1t carried 25¢ PAID postage from Wilbraham, with an additional
4-1/2¢, the Canadian rate from the line to Lachine. Postmarked at
Montreal April 12, and at Lachine on April 13, 1844, the letter was
carried over the trade routes of the fur company 1o the far west, and
was received by Brewer at Wascopam Mission on October 29,
1844, ;
With the founding of the Oregon Mission of the Methodist
Episcopal church in 1834, an immediate need was created for a
means of communication with family. friends, and parent organi-
zation in the east. The first mail, dispatched by individuals of the
group, was by ship from the Columbia River by way of the Sand-
wich Islands, around Cape Horn 1o Mew England. Dr. John
MecLaughlin, Chief Factor of the Hudson's Bay Company at Fort
Vancouver, generously made available the facilities of the express
service to the Oregon Mission, and the closely scheduled and
efficiently handled express boats aided in reducing the isolation of
the Indian missions.

The Hudson's Bay Company, maintaining trade routes through
Canada and the northwest for their fur brigades, and with express
hoat service for their trading posts and other diversified activities,
afforded a means of communication 1o their trappers and traders,
and to the missionaries who had ventured into the remote back-
woods areas.

The inference must not be gained that the facilities of the

T -

Letter from the Brewer correspondence, mailed af
Mass., April 8, 1844. Photograph by Staniey B. Ashbrook, who also
retouched the two postmarks for greater clarity in illustration.

Me_k-eel's & Stamps MAGAZINE

Wilbraham, priorto 1548:

Fort Hall (1daha) estab-
lished by Nathaniel Wyeth, 1834,

War declared by Mexico,
June 4, 1845.

{inited States and Great-Brirain sign treaty settling the 34-40

boundary dispute, June 13, 1 846,

Mormon migration to Utah, 1847,

Gold discovered in California, Januwary 24, 1848

Upper California ceded to the United States by Mexico, 1848

With the exception of the establishment of Fort Hall in 1834
these events oceurred subsequent 1o the time the express services
over the trade routes of the fur company were made available to
Jason Lee and those associated with him. Lee had played a minor,
although a dramatic part in ihe establishment of Fort Hall.

The trickle of migration to Oregon Was 50 insignificant that
Jason Lee, in 1839, estimated the American population as slightly
more than one hundred. The population in 1843 was estimated af
about fifteen hundred.

Letters in extremely small numbers occasionally found thei
way from east to west OVer the mid-continent route—the Oregor
Trail. and the dearth of mail carried over this route is understand
able. for there was no clearly defined or organized means o
dispatch from Independence, Missouri, the eastern jumping of
paint, on the long trail 1o Oregon. Due to the pncertainty, mas
over this route was almost accidental—a point appreciated if con
sideration is given 1o the limited number who ventured over th
hazardous two thousand mile Oregon Trail prior to 1843. Ma
from the edst was entrusted 10 persons making the long migratios

"1 Decombet10:200
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THE WESTERN MAILS

] , g OREGON;
5 ol
L : ! A SHORT LIISTORY OF A LONG JOURNEY
= :- o > : : FROXN TIE
B e i , ATLANTIC OCEAN TO THE REGION OF THE PACIFIC,

Y I,~ AND;
DRAWS UF FROM THE HOTES AND ORAL INFORMATION
oF
JOHN B. WYETH,
ONE OF TIE PARTY WIIO LEFT MI. NATIIANIEL J. WYETI,

- oLy 23ru, 1812, Foun pavs' MARCH DEVOND THE IIDGE OF THE

ROOEY MOUNTAINS,

e et | AND THE GNLY ONE WHO [143 RETURNED T0 ¥EW ERGLAND,

"

I

E

1833,

41. WYETH, JOHN B. Oregon: or a Short History of a Long fourney from the

Atlantic Ocean to the Region of the Pacific by land; drawn up from the Notes and

Oral Information of John B. Wyeth, one of the party who left Mr. Nathaniel 1.
Wyeth, July 28, 1832, four days march beyond the ride of the Rocky Mountains,
and the only one who has returned to New England. First Ed. 8vo, pamphlet, 87pp.
Wagner Camp 47; Howes 717; Sabin 105649; Graff 4763. Cambridge: Joha B,
Wyeth, 1833.

The first printed account of the first emigrant party to cross the plains; starting from Cambridge,
Mass, these hardy Yankees failed to get rich guick in the Fur trode, as was their intention, but
succeeded in crossing the countey to within 200 miles of the Pacific; origingl Tront wrapper pre-
served, appearing to have been skillfully retouched with pen; back wrapper lacking; uncut and
perfect condition otherwise: in a Tull maroon marocco solander slip case; extremely scarce.

CAMBRIDGE :
PRINTED FOIL JOUN 0. WYETIL.
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MISSOURI BELLE was a sidewheel steamboat of 165 tons,built at
Pittsburgh,Pa. in 1834.Had a very short life,being lost in
1834.Cover carried by the MISSOURI BELLE to St LOUIS where it
entered the U.S.mails on July 4,1834 as per postmark. It was
rated "25" cents to Baltimore.
Jacob and Charles were brothers of Nathaniel J. WyethJacob and
his cousin John B. Wyeth had gone west with Nat on his exped-
ition to the Rocky Mountains in 1832. On reaching the rendezvous
site in Pierre's Hole (now called Teton Valley,Idaho),about July
7th,Jacob and John and several others decided to-go back home with
Sublette when he returned to St.Louis. Later,on his return John B.
Wyeth published an account of the trip - OREGON,or a Short History
of a Long Journey,1833. Nathaniel called it a book "of little lies
told for gain". SEE Nat's letter and a copy of John's OREGON in this
collection.
The folded letter ahove relates to the strained relations between
Nat and Jacob because Jacob and John had deserted him at Pierre's
Hole. The following quotes are from the letter : "Galena June 27th
18324." Jacob states that he has commenced marfied life on the
11th ult and that he will soon open an apothecaries store to supple-
ment his practice as a physician - he was a doctor.He wants his
brother to write a "congratultory" letter to show his wife Mary. I
do "not wish you to contradict any thing Nat has said,not evenall-
ued to it,I never doubted Nat spoke the truth about me,or at least
intended to but felt fears that it might have an influence on Mary's
feelings that were unpleasent,she might Suppose for instance, the
misunderstanding which he[Nat] alluded to my having with my family,

amounted to an alienation for me on their part,which I do not believe
is the case,at least with some members of 1t,a letter of a friendly
cast with no allusions of the past but giving me all the felicitat-
ions usual on such occasions. He continues in the same vain and
wants Charles to intercede in the matter and bring him and Nat to-
gether with the family.
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Edward Samuel was born in Kentucky Oct.11,1807. He moved with his father

to the Missouri Territory in 1815 and settled at Liberty in Clay county

in 182%,where he engaged in the mercantile business.In 1865 he moved to
St.Louis and was the president of the Commercial Bank until his death 1n
1869.

The letter shown is in reference to Wyeth's second expedition to the far
west.SEE Wyeth's letter from the Rendezvous of 1837 in this collection.
Although his first venture was a failure it did not deter him from mount-
ing a second expedition after his return to Boston in the fall of 1833,

He had made an agreement in the form of a contract with Milton Sublette

and Thomas Fitzpatrick to supply the Rocky Mountain Fur Co.at the Rendez-
vous of 1834,at Hams Fork of the Green River.Dy April 1834 Weyeth was back
in St.Louis under the name of The Columbia River Fishing & Trading Co.

Here his party,vhich consisted of seventy men,Z250 horses,tvo distinguished
scientists,John Kirk Townsend and Thomas Nuttall,as well as,five mission-
aries, including Jason Lee,Daniel Lee and Cyrus Shepherd, joined the annual
fur trade caravan under the leadership of Milton Sublette. Because of an
infected Foot Milton Sublette turned back te St,Louis where his leg was
amputated which led to his eventual death at Fort Laramie in 1837 .0n arriv-
al at the Rendezvous Wyeth found that Wm.Sublette had supplied the R.M.F.
Company and they refused to honor the contract.However they did pay a for-
feit of %500 which was part of the contract.it is interesting to note that
samuel states in the letter that Sublette "afterwards bought his goods at a
profit of 300 per cent"! Be that as it may,Wyeth continued west and estab-
lished a trading post on the Snake River about 40 miles N.E.of its forks
with the Portneuf River in present day Idaho. Leaving Robert Evens in charge
of the post which is known to history as Fort Hall,he continued west to the
mouth of the Columbia where he met the brig MAY DACRE.SEE deposition of
Robert Evens in this collection.Wyeth had intended to establish a salmon f£ish-
ing plant in Oregon and ship the dried salmon back east to New England.How-
ever it,as well as his fur trading plans, never worked out and he returned to
Boston and the pond ice business whare he was successful and where he died
on August 31,1856,having lived to see Oregon become a territory of the U.S.
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FUR TRADE RENDEZVOUS - GREEN RIVER 1834

"Liberty Missouri Sept 24,'34
Gentlemen - One of our Citizens who went out for his health with Capt
Wyeth [Nathaniel Jarvis] has to day redched home,and gives me the follow-
ing information,which I presume you would be plezsed to learn,and I there-
fore write you. He states that Capt Wyeth reached the waters of
the Columbia River (which lie beyond the mountains) in safety on the 2d
July last,that himself & company were all well,that but four of his hands
left him which he again supplied from another company - that his Horses
stood the trip well,but 12 of the 125 having failed,that Wm.L.Sublette
got ahead of him and supplied a contract which Capt W.had with Milton
Sublette or some person else,but that WL Sublette paid him a profeit of
$500 and afterwards bought his goods at a profit of 300 per cent,and he
thinks Capt W.done zs well or bketter than if he had filled the contract

A:u/

himself - he states that the wvessel (tha May Dacre had landed zt the mouth
of the Coclumbiz River and sent an express to meet Capt W. which did meet
him,and the Capt expected to meet her by the 22 July - he states that

about 300 of the Nc Percha [Nez Percé ] Indians were to accompany Capt

Wyeth the balance of his journey to protect them from the Blackfeet Indi-
ans - the Missionaries Messrs Lee [Jason] & Shepherd [Cyrus] were in comp-
any alsc Capt Thing [Jose ph] Mr Nuttall [Thomas] and Townsend [John Kirlk]
of Phila.all well - he gives great credit to Capt Wyeth for his Persever-
ance and bravery - he states that it was in conseguence of Capt Ws losing
his way that Sublette got ahezad of him - I wrote before that we had recd.
after Capt W left us & package for Abel Baker on board May Dacre wvhich we
could see no opportunity of sending to him,and reguested to know what to
do with it. whether to send it to you or keep it - what shall I do -

Edward M.Samuel/of firm of Samuel & Moore"
Ecward M.Samuel/of firm of Samu=l & Moore"



"Hams Fork of the Colorado of the West Latt.41,45 Long.112 ,35 W.June 21 1834~

Dear Wife I have but little to say to you in a letter,but much business with
you if I were at home, I got here safe,and well,but whether I shall do well is yet
uncertain ,but I will try.Miltons [Sublette] leg got so bad that he did not come
withme.Mr Nuttall [Thomas] is well and curseing little battle of Cambridge in
high stile. It would do you good to look into our tent and see how fat I am,be of
good cheer and make yourself as happy as you can unril I come or send. Give my

respects to your mother, and Aunt Rebecca,and love to Caroline,Baptiste sends
compliments

I am Yr. Afte. Husband™
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FUR TRADE RENDEZVOUS 1834.

Back in Boston Wyeth got financial backing and organized the Columbia River
Fishing & Trading Company. After buying supplies and trade goods,he char-
tered the brig MAY DACRE to carry it around Cape Horn to the Columbia River.

By April 17,1834 he was back in Independence,the final starting point for
his second expedition to the Oregon country.This time he was better organ-
ized.He started out on April 28th,with Milton Sublette and 75 men and 230
horses.Accompanying him was Joseph Thing ,a Boston sea captain,Jason Lee.a
Methodist missionary and his four companions and naturalists,Thomas Nutt-
all and John Kirk Townsend. SEE Townsend's letter in this collection.On May
8th,Milton Sublette was forced to turn back because of a diseased leg which
after amputation led to his death at Fort Laramie on April 5,1837.0n arrival
at the rendezvous site,Wyeth was astonished to learn that Sublette would not
accept the trade goods he had contracted for.However Wyeth was paida $500
forfeite as called for in the contract By the first of July the rendezvous was
breaking up and shortly thereafter Wyeth and party headed west.On his way he
stopped of f and built Fort Hall on the Snake River near the junction of the
Portneuf River.Here he stored his trade goods and left the post in charge of
Robert Evans.He then continued west,arriving at Fort Vancouver on Sept.14th,
the day before the MAY DACRE anchored in the Columbia with his supplies.
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Elefm:'e leaving the rendesvous Wyeth met Joseph Reddeford Walker and Michel S.
Cerre,enroute to St.Louis with Captain Benjamin L.E.Bonnevill's furs. It can
be certainly assumed that Wyeth turned this letter over to Walker as per the
directive on the lower left of the address sheet - "J.W." for JOSEPH WALKER.On
arrival in St.Louis it was turned over,as per note on reverse , to be "Forwar-
ded from St.Louis Mo by Von Phul & MGill",who placed it in the post office as
per postmark St LOUIS MO SEP 1 and rated "25"cents to Cambridge,where it was
crossed out and forwarded "6" cents to Saxonville,where it again was forwar-
ded back to Cambridge with an additional "6" cents,for a total of "12" cents
collect.It had alsc been to the "Care of Jas.Brown",which was crossed out
for "Mr.David Stone" (Mrs.Wyeth's father?) at Saxonville which is also cross-
ed out when forwarded back to Cambridge.




FORT WILLIAM OREGON COUNTRY 1835.

After arriving at Fort Vancouver in September of 1834,Wyeth selected a site
on Wappatoo Island near the mouth of the Willamette River,on the Columbia.lt
was here that he built Fort William and set up-his business of shipping furs
and Salmon,via Cape Horn,to Boston and the eastern market.In November he
sent Captain Joseph Thing to relieve Robert Evans in charge of Fort Hall.From
the beginning things were becoming unprofitable.The Salmon catch had been
poor and he was only able to ship half a cargo in the MAY DACRE on its return
to Boston.He spent the winter of 1835/36 at Fort Hall,returning to the Colum-
bia in February 1836, where he sold Fort William to the Hudson Bay Company
and went back to Fort Hall.He left Fort Hall June 25th,stopping off at the
rendezvous of 1836 0on the upper Green River near Daniel,Wyoming,on his way
back to Cambridge where he arrived in the fall. Captain Thing,as agent for
Wyeth ,so0ld Fort Hall the following year to the Hudson Bay Company .
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Folded letter from the Columbia River,via Hawaii and Cape Horn
to Boston,where it entered the mails as per postmark - BOSTON
JUN 10" ,1B36.From the date of the letter,it was over 8 months
in transit.At Boston it was rated "18 3/4" cents and forwarded
to Baltimore "Care of Charles Wyeth Esq",Nathaniel's brother.

"Fort William Sept.22d 1835"

"Dear Wife I have been sick,but have got well,and shall be on my way
to the mountains,to winter at Fort Hall,in about six days, I expect to
be at home about the 1st.Nov.1836. Mr.Nuttall is here and well.I have.
sent you half a bbl [barrel] of Salmon which I hope will be in good order.
I can not attend to putting them up myself,therefore thay may not be so
good.The season has been sickly,we have lost by drowning,decease and
warfare 7 persons to this date,and 14 now sick.Keep up good spirits my
dear wife,for I expect when I come home to stop there,and altho I shall
be poor,yet we can always live,I hope to find my trees growing when I
come,and all things comfortable,I think this will be the last until I
see you,give my respects to your mother and Aunt Rebecca, my love to
Sister May and Brother Pery,if you see them.

and believe me yr.afte.Husband"



FORT VANCOUVER 1838

"Fort Vancouver 18 January 1838"

"Madam As I hear that there is a canoe going off with letters to the
ship,in which Capt Thing [Joseph] left this, I think it @y duty to write
you by him,and thank you for the care you took of me while I was in Boston
-You told me to continue to improve myself when Mr.Wyeth took me from
you,Since he left me, I have been at Mr.McLoughlen's [ John McLoughlin,
was a chief factor and Governor of the Columbia Department of the Hudson
Bay Company - Sir George Simpson's "ramrod" in the far northwest ]School
under Mr.Robinson and am glad ,to be able to write to you and thank you,
for having been so kind to me - T hear that my father [Francios Pavette a
trader with the Hudson Bay Co.] will go out of the Columbia in spring and
I hope he will take me with him and I hope I shall see you again -

I am / Madam/ your humble servant/ John B.Payette”
\ " - 5 —r
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Many jur traders and trappers
married Indian girls like this 1 .\F: 4
lovely young Flathead of 1837. — s——

Folded letter dated January 18,1838 (overwritten from 1837) ,was
carried by ship to Boston,via Hawaii and Cape Horn,was 15 months

in transit,arriving at Boston April 17,1839, where it was post-
marked and rated "6" cents in red.

BAPTISTE PAYETTE was a half-breed son of Francois Payette,a trader
with the Hunson Bay Company.and a Flathead Indian girl.Francois
was a friend of Wyeth and when Wyeth went back to Cambridge in 1833,
he took Baptiste,who was 13 year old, and an Nez Perce boy,with him.
Baptiste could not speak English and read or write , but by the time
he got back to Oregon he had accomplished this as testified to by
this letter he wrote to Mrs.Wyeth. Although he is refrred to by most

historians as Baptiste,he apparently preffered the name John as per
his signature.
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THE WESTERN MAILS

FORT VANCOUVER, Oregon Territory, Dec. 1Bth, 1836 (transparently for 1835). The letter
was carried overland, following the great watercourses of Canada, via the expresses of the
Hudson's Bay Company., On arrival in Montreal, August 13, 1836, it was rated 6d, stamped
PAID, and forwarded to the United States. The .S, Post Office rated the letter 25¢ collect,
scrolled out the Canadian charges, and the letter was delivered in Philadelphia after a long
journey of almost eight months.

John Kirk Townsend, the writer of the letter, with his fellow Philadelphian, naturelist
Thomas Nuttall, joined Nathaniel J. Wyeth's expedition and the annual caravan, to the Fur
Trade Rendezvous of 1834 at Ham's Fork in what is now S.W. Wyoming. After the Rendezvous
he continued west with Wyeth, arriving at Fort Vancouver on September 16, 1834,

Townsend was an Ornithologist, second only to James J. Audobon in the study of the birds
of America. He wrote the story of his overland trip to Oregon, NARATIVE OF A JOURNEY
ACROSS THE ROCKY MOUNTAINS, Philadelphia 1839, Part of this letter is quoted in the book
including a visit from an old Indian Chief whose “sunken eyes sparkle like diamonds set in
bronze”. He also mentions that his Indian name is Kalakla tiee meaning Bird Chief,



Fort Vancouver,0Oregon territory
Dec,18th 1836
My dear Cousin L,

Was it in jest or earnest my dear Cousin that thee once gave me
permission to write to thee? I have never been able to discover; to be sure
T have had no opportunity except by reasoning with my own thoughts upon the
Subject, & this T have done often, very often, but T could never before
summon Sufficient courage tﬁ begin the task. I have been anxious to write ,
not because I supposed myself capable of interesting thee particularly, (For
I shall assuredly not go into a long discourse about the imminent danger I
have passed -~ the hair breath 'scapes & such things - these I detail in full
to our family only, to others they must be dull & stupid enough,) but is
there any harm in desiring that those we esteem & love shd, be aware that we
think of them with every returning morning, ¥ Sincerely & fervently desire
their prosperity & happiness, I am anxious thee should know that T have
thought thus of thee my cousin, that among my dear absent friends there
is not one;, no not one, of whom T have thought more frequently & whose
esteem & friendship T prize more highly,

I am sojourning in a distant land, far removed from all upor
whom my affections have dwelt from infancy to manhood — T am surrounded,- by
what? by éavages who have not one feeling in common with me or any other
civilized being, who eat, sleep & die & mingle with the dust, but who never
feel, who never think, who never have a conception save that which will tend
to the gratificaﬁian of sensual desires, or minister to the vilent & most
corrupt passions of a naturally corrupt nature. Oh] not for the wealth of
worlds would T adopt this for my Country as many have done & are doing, & I
only endare it now in the expectation of soon leaving it to be again united
to those for whom my heart so anxiously & increasingly yearns, Still T have
met with kindness here, veéry great kindness, Nothing could be more cordial #&
generous than the hospitality of the gentlemen attached to this establishment,

The Stranger is always recd, by them with open arms — his very wishes are
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anticipated, # nothing in their power is omitted to make him comfortable &
happy-

But will thee not say I am an incorrigible egotist Cousin L, Tt is one
of my many foilles I suppose, Now I really slip inte it as naturally as tho!
it should be a thing of course & as tho' I supposed every one ought to be as
much interested in my small matters as my fond sisters profess to be, But
thou hast had much to forgive in me & will not refuse thy pardon now,

To change the tiresome subject then to a very, very lovely one:
our Sweet cousin Hannah Said T it was a lovely subject?- I can see
her now, with her quiet; gentle eyes speaking the pure sweet music of the
soul - T do not wish to take a flight - but there is something so placid, so
immaterial & so heaven-like in the pure serenity of those eyes of hefs, f# her
every action, wnrd.& gesture so perfectly accord with their expression that
to me she seems a being of a higher order than the rude mortals who daily
beset our path., Oh! I could have loved this Child - but who could know her
% not love her? - I could havé loved her, not as T shoyld love another woman-
She is too good for that, & I should have fancied that T was purified &
rendered more worthy of that heaven to which we all aspire from the very
circumstance of loving one so holy, And that this blessed Child -~ this little
less than Saint, Should have been, almost from infancy, the subject of
discase & suffering! - Does it not almost make us doubt the justice of that
power who rules us ! - What had this dear child done to merit such infliction
And why, if as some visionaries would have us think, - a certain amt, Gf-pain
is as a curse bestowed upon the world, - could not this have alighted upon
one whose deeds had made him worthy of the curse, & whom it would perhaps
chasten & purify. But these matters are not within the compass of our reason,
we should not deoubt but suffer all things.,

I have spoken of our cousins illness as a thing of by-gone days -
T will not believe that she is sick now: when I last saw her she was improwvin,

*

# with a fair prospect of a speedy restoration. This has been effected, & uy
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